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REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

 

Attached is a Request for Proposal (RFP) for Employee Assistance Program (EAP) services to be 

considered for implementation within EAST BAY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT (the 
District). If your organization provides EAP services and is interested in providing these services to 

the District, please respond to the RFP, no later than February 21, 2012 at 4:30 PM in the afternoon. 
 

Please review and respond to the questions contained in this RFP. The Contract Equity Program 

(CEP) forms and questions at the back of the RFP must also be fully completed for your proposal 

to receive consideration. 
 

 

PART ONE 

DISTRICT BACKGROUND 

 

The District is a public utility governed by a seven member Board of Directors elected by persons 

residing within the District service area.  Approximately 1.3 million persons are served by the 
District's water system within a 332 square mile area, and 650,000 wastewater customers covering 

an 88 square mile area of Alameda and Contra Costa counties. The District has been in operation for 
close to 90 years, with roots going back further to small, historical suppliers of water in the East 

Bay. 

 

The District employs about 1,750 full-time, part-time, and temporary employees. The average age of 

our population is 49 years old, with the majority of our workforce being between 41 and 55 years 
old. The workforce is predominantly male. While most District employees work and reside in the 

greater East Bay area, we have employee populations in the Livermore Valley, the Stockton area, 

and the Mokelumne River Watershed. District Administrative Headquarters are located in downtown 
Oakland. A list of employee zip codes is attached to the RFP (Exhibit F).  

 

A majority of District employees belong to one of four unions: American Federation of State, 

County, and Municipal Employees (AFSCME) Locals 444 and 2019, Operating Engineers local 39, 

and International Federation of Professional and Technical Engineers (IFPTE) local 21.  
 

The District first contracted for EAP services in 1972. Our employees value EAP availability and 
have a fairly stable utilization rate of approximately 10% for both clinical (marriage counseling, etc.) 

and life services (legal, estate planning, etc.) for a combined utilization rate of 20%. . In recent years 
the District has been averaging approximately $110,000 annually for EAP service costs. The District 

is interested in maintaining focus on core EAP technologies with a comprehensive menu of 

additional options.  

 

The District plans to implement a new EAP contract, pursuant to this RFP, on July 1, 2012 that will 
be in effect for 5 to 8 years including options to renew. 
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PART TWO 

REQUIRED SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

The District seeks an EAP provider that meets the following criteria (since not all are services): 

 
1.  Strengths in EAP core technology as defined by Employee Assistance Professional 

Association (see Exhibit E for definition) and also provide ancillary life-services. 
2.  24/7 availability. 

3.  Appropriately licensed and credentialed to operate in California. 

4.  Ability to establish a credible worksite presence at the District through site visits, events, 
publications, etc, that lead employees to know and use the EAP. 

5.  Provide a 6-session/client /fiscal year EAP counseling model. 
6.  Has strong familiarity with local resources with current openings to which clients can be 

referred for immediate assistance based on their specific needs. 

7.  Has the flexibility to allow the District to add individual providers on request. 
8.  Is willing to enter into t a multi-year contract of 5 to 8 years’ duration including options to 

renew. 
9. Is willing to execute and adhere to a contract that includes the District’s standard contract 

terms (which are attached as Part 6).   

10. Has the  technological capability  to maintain automated client data and billing services on 
both a “ fee-for- service” and a “capitated” basis  

11. Can provide an annual report of client utilization and outcome measures that document 
value added or return on investment for services provided. 

12.  Is capable of sustaining or increasing the District’s current client utilization levels. 

13.  Demonstrate proven ability to understand and successfully work in a public sector 
environment that is heavily unionized. 

 

PART THREE 

 QUESTIONNAIRE IN ORDER TO DEMONSTRATE 

ABILITY TO MEET THE REQUIRED SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

I.  PROVIDE AN OVERVIEW DESCRIPTION OF YOUR EAP 

 
A. What is your organization’s philosophy regarding EAPs and how has it evolved to date? 

B. How is your EAP differentiated from a managed behavioral healthcare function in 
terms of structure, process and personnel? Do you offer both assessment and referral, 

and mental health treatment EAP models? 

C. Describe the worksite-based component(s) of your EAP. 
D. How does your organization establish a presence with employees and supervisors? 

E. How do you measure the value that your EAP adds to the client company? 
F. What value can your organization specifically add to the District?   

 

II. LIST AND DESCRIBE THE EAP SERVICES YOUR EAP PROVIDES  

 

A. Core EAP Services (specify all that apply) 
1. Supervisory referrals/consultations  

2. Drug and alcohol assessment, referral and follow-up 
3. Emotional/psychological intervention, chronic and acute 

 4



4. Relationship issues 
5. Work-related problems 

6. Legal consultation  

7. Eldercare/child care 
8. Financial counseling 

9. Retirement preplanning 
10. Other work/life components 

 
B. Onsite Trainings including supervisory orientations, brown bag employee sessions, 

critical incident debriefing services and other requested consultations 

 
C. Promotional and Communications Materials and Strategies 

1. Describe your Ability to provide EAP brochures, videos, wallet cards and other 
promotional material. 

2. Will you distribute a dedicated newsletter to supervisors and/or all employees on a 

regular schedule? 
3. Will you have web-site access for employees to access information about the EAP? 

 
D. Describe your ability to provide services to employees and managers on a 24-hour, 

seven day a week basis. 

 
E. Describe how clients or employees/family members will be referred to providers who 

are able to see them on a timely basis. What follow-up do you provide to insure the 
employee has completed the referral? 

 

F. How do you match employee problems to provider expertise and availability? 
 

G. Describe your follow-up process for new referrals, ongoing cases, and closed cases. 
 

H. Describe how you will establish an ongoing worksite presence to encourage EAP 

utilization by troubled employees. 
 

I. Describe how you will stimulate and reinforce supervisor/manager consultation and the 
referral of troubled employees. What reports are developed to provide feedback on 

supervisory consultations and referrals? What is your target utilization for supervisory 

referrals and why? 
 

J. Describe your experience in providing additional services of SAP assessments, 
oversight coordination of Fitness for Duty evaluations, and other services. 

 

K. What new EAP initiatives have you implemented in the last 24 months? 
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III. Describe your ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE 

 

A. Provide a brief history of your EAP organization, including the following: 

1. Inception and years of experience in providing EAP services. 

2. History of any EAP mergers and acquisitions.  

3. Connections, if any, with a parent organization. Other services/products provided by 

your organization, including your parent organization. What percentage of the 

organization's revenue comes from EAP and what percentage comes from other 
activities?  

 
B. List  Current EAP Client 

1. Please highlight customers, past or present that are public sector and/or utilities. 

2. How is your EAP customer base divided among various business sectors? 
 

C. 1. Please provide an organization chart of your operation and flow charts specific to 
providing EAP services. 

2. Please describe the EAP models that you offer. How do you propose to staff and 

 structure service delivery for the District EAP. 

a. How many contracts will be assigned to the District account rep? 

b. How many covered lives? 
c. How often will the account representative meet with the District? 

3.  Who will be responsible for authorizing EAP sessions and how will this 

 determination be made? What is your capacity for verifying employment status 
 and sessions used? Will providers be contacted for the employee? How will the 

 EAP know that the employee has followed through with the referral? What 
 contact is initiated to the employee who does not complete a referral? 

4. Who will contact supervisors regarding supervisory referrals? How is 

information  transmitted from the District to the EAP professional about the 
particular  situation? What if additional information develops? 

5. Who will coordinate with the District administrative oversight function and EAP 
 committee? What is your experience with internally managed/external contract 

 model EAPs? Describe how your EAP would coordinate with District. 

6. Do you have a client company advisory committee and, if so, what companies are 
 involved? 

 
D. Please provide copies of licenses, certificates and accreditation as they apply to your 

organization and provide information, including appropriate credentials and 

experience, regarding the employees who will be responsible for our contract.  

1. Describe your standards and requirement review procedures for the professional 

experience and credentials of your employees who provide initial response and 
triage to employees calling in for EAP service. Will these people be dedicated to 
the District account? What is their average length of service at this position?  

2. Describe any current or past litigation and/or claims against your EAP or parent 
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organization.  What is the current nature and status of these actions? 

3. Describe the structure and role of your provider grievance committee, how often 

it is convened, under what circumstances and what it has accomplished. Describe 

the appeals procedure as it applies to your EAP services. 

4. Are you licensed under Knox-Keene to provide EAP services?  If Knox-Keene 

compliant, please describe. 
 

E. Describe the information management and reporting capability of your organization. 

1. What type of automated client tracking do you use? 

2. Please provide copies of client tracking forms and computer screens. 

3. Please provide copies of employee, provider, and supervisory satisfaction 
surveys and indicate the return rate across your customer base.  

4. Describe the outcome measures and reports available to the employer. Please 
provide your best example of an outcome report. 

 

IV. PROVIDER DEMOGRAPHICS 

 

A. Will you permit the District to add providers to your panel, if they meet your 
credentialing requirements? 

 

B. Will you permit the District to authorize additional EAP sessions on a fee for service 

basis? 
 

C. Please provide a staffing profile for the Bay Area, with particular attention to the 
East Bay, Stockton and Valley Spring regions.  Include in this profile information 

related to clinical specialization, cultural diversity and availability. 
 

D. Please describe your provider rating system and include all component criteria. 

1. Is your provider list currently open or closed? 

2. How are practitioners initially assessed and subsequently updated? 

3. Do you list providers by specialty? How is the employee connected to the best 
EAP counselor? 

4. How are practitioners reviewed for effectiveness on an ongoing basis? 

5. When do you know if you need more or less providers on contract? 

6. Under what circumstances have you removed practitioners from your list? 

7. Describe the method, content and frequency of provider training, supervision and 
feedback, including mechanisms for clinical oversight, case staffing and quality 

improvement. 

8. Do you have a provider committee and, if so, how often do they meet? 
 

 

 

 

 

E. What is your current provider payment rate for EAP services and how does this 
compare with your payment rate for other clinical services that the provider may be 
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delivering through your organization? Do providers offer both EAP and treatment 
services to you at the same rate? Do you reimburse providers for EAP follow-up? 

 

F. How do you track provider satisfaction?  What is your provider grievance or appeal 

process?  How many provider complaints have you received in each of the past three 
years and what are the recurring issues? 

 

G. What criteria are used to authorize the number of EAP sessions?  What process is 

used to match the client and provider?  What is the background of the individual 
making this determination? 

 

V. RELATIONSHIPS WITH LABOR ORGANIZATIONS 

 
Please describe your history of working with labor unions. Please include enough 

information for District Unions to be able to analyze your understanding of represented 
employees concerns and wishes related to an EAP, and your ability to deliver a service that 
also meets their needs. Please emphasize, in your histories, your understanding of differences 

between public and private sector labor organizations. Please include labor references and 

testimony. Specify any areas of conflict between the delivery of EAP services and 
labor/management perspectives and priorities that you have previously encountered with 

other clients and how you have addressed them.  
 

VI. KNOWLEDGE OF THE DISTRICT WORKFORCE 

 

 Please describe your organization's experience in providing services to construction and 

engineering firms and their employees. Identify similar contracts that you have now or have 
had within the last 10 years. What are the particular issues that arise in the design or delivery 

of EAP services for this kind of workforce and setting?  What specialized orientation would 
you look for in your providers to address the needs of this population?  Please include your 

experience with other municipal entities and/or Civil Service populations. 

 

VII. PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

 

A. Describe your client outcome tracking system 

1. What treatment outcome metrics do you track? 

2. What benchmark metrics are appropriate for the District with respect to: 

a. Overall EAP utilization rate. 

b. The percentage of employees using the program. 

c. The percentage of employees formally referred by management. 

d. The percentage of employees with substance abuse problems. 

e. The number of follow up contacts 

f. The number of management consultations per year for a comparably sized 
workforce, similar to the District. 

B. What percentage of employees with substance abuse problems that your firm has 

treated is still employed one year after treatment? 
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C. Describe your follow-up protocols for: 

1. Formal supervisory referrals. 

2. Self-referred employees with substance abuse problems. 
3. Formally referred employees with substance abuse problems. 

4. Employees with psychiatric problems resulting in lost time from work. 
 

VIII. COST STRUCTURES 

 

Please provide your pricing options for a Core Technology EAP and include ancillary 
services and accessories. What are the pricing options available if the services you listed in 

section II are purchased as a bundled offering or individually? 

1. What options can you provide for either fee for service or capitation? The 
District is specifically seeking a fee for service schedule with a financial ceiling 

equivalent to a capitated rate. 

2. What options can you provide for multi-year contracting (5 to 8 years)? 

 

IX. CAPACITY FOR START UP 

 

How much time is required for implementing the EAP? 
Please provide a detailed description of preparatory steps and a timeline that you can commit to. 

 

X. REFERENCES 

 
Please provide three contacts from current customers and three contacts from former 

customers within the last 10 years that the District can interview regarding your EAP 
services. Feel free to include written references in addition to the above contact information. 

 

PART FOUR 

OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

A. If the Scope of EAP Services is changed by the District to meet its requirements, the basis of 

payment and cost ceiling will be renegotiated. 

 

B. All communications from EAP Vendor to the District shall be directed to: 

  
Roger Wapner 

EBMUD MS #601 

PO Box 24055 

Oakland CA 94623-1055 

 

C. Quality and quantity of work shall meet District standard practice and be acceptable to 

District personnel. Failure to meet requirements may result in termination of contract with 

Consultant at the discretion of the District. 

PROPOSAL SUBMISSION 

 

A. Six copies of your proposal must be received by 4:30 PM on February 21, 2012. They 
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should be addressed to: 
 

Roger Wapner 

EBMUD MS #601 

PO Box 24055 

Oakland CA 94623-1055 
 

B. Late proposals will not be accepted; proposals shall stipulate that they are valid for 6 months 
from date of submittal. An official legally capable of binding the firm must sign proposals. 

No term, condition, or cost of the proposal can be revised after bids have been opened, 

unless agreed to in writing and signed by both parties. 
 

C. Promptly after receipt of the proposals, the District will open all proposals and commence its 
evaluation. The Firm(s) submitting proposal(s) deemed by the District to be most responsive 

to District needs will be interviewed for final selection. Upon completion of its evaluation, 

the District will notify each bidder of the results. 
 

D. Selection will be based on the extent to which the proposal meets the District’s needs, 

samples of previous work, references and cost. 

 

E. The selected Firm will be required to agree not to disclose information contained in District 
records and not to disclose information regarding this assignment without prior written 

consent of the District.  
 

F. The Firm has the entire responsibility for any and all injury to the public and to 

individuals. The Firm expressly agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless from and 
against any and all loss, liability, expense, claims, costs, suits, and damages including 

attorneys’ fees, arising out of Firm’s operation or performance under this agreement. 
 

G. The District will not pay for any costs incurred in the preparation or submission of the 

proposal or in connection with the interviews. 
 

H. The District reserves the right to reject any and all proposals received as a result of this 
request. Subsequent procurement, if any, will be in accordance with appropriate The District 

contractual action. 

 

I. If awarded the contract, the District anticipates Firm will comply with the terms and 

conditions outlined in the RFP and the attached Sample Contract in Part Six of this RFP.  If 
Firms are unable or unwilling to accept the terms and conditions outlined in the RFP and the 

attached Sample Consulting Agreement, please outline any terms or conditions that Firm is 

unable or unwilling to accept.  Please be specific and outline any alternative proposals for 
each.  
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PART SIX 

SAMPLE CONTRACT 

 
If awarded the contract, EBMUD anticipates Consultant will comply with the terms and conditions outlined 

in the RFP and the attached Sample Consulting Agreement.  If Consultants are unable or unwilling to 
accept the terms and conditions outlined in the RFP and the attached Sample Consulting Agreement, 

please outline any terms or conditions that Consultant is unable or unwilling to accept.  Please be specific 
and outline any alternative proposals for each.  

 

Draft 12/29/2009 

 

(Standard Consulting Agreement for  

Contracts Greater than $25,000 - Revised 4/22/08) 
(Note: Reference District Procedure No. 124) 

 

CONSULTING AGREEMENT 

FOR 

EAST BAY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 

 

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

 

 

 

THIS Agreement is made and entered into this               day of (month), 2010(insert year), by and 

between EAST BAY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT, a public entity, hereinafter called 

"DISTRICT," and (CONSULTANT'S FULL LEGAL NAME, BOLD, ALL CAPS followed by type 

of entity [ corporation, etc.]), hereinafter called "CONSULTANT." 

 
 

WITNESSETH 

 

WHEREAS, DISTRICT requires consulting services for Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 

services; and 

 

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT has submitted a proposal to provide consulting services for EAP 

services and CONSULTANT represents that it has the experience, licenses, qualifications, staff and 
expertise to perform said services in a professional and competent manner; and 

 

WHEREAS, DISTRICT Board of Directors has authorized the contract by Motion  

Number                                    ; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed by DISTRICT and CONSULTANT that for the 

considerations hereinafter set forth, CONSULTANT shall provide said services to DISTRICT, as set 
forth in greater detail herein. 

 

 

ARTICLE 1 - SCOPE OF WORK
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1.1 CONSULTANT agrees to furnish services set forth in Exhibit A, Scope of Services, attached 

hereto and incorporated herein.  The services authorized under this Agreement shall also 
include all reports, manuals, plans, and specifications as set forth in Exhibit A.   
 

1.2 CONSULTANT's work products shall be completed and submitted in accordance with 
DISTRICT's standards specified, and according to the schedule listed, in Exhibit A.  The 
completion dates specified herein may be modified by mutual agreement between 
DISTRICT and CONSULTANT provided that DISTRICT’s Project Manager notifies 

CONSULTANT of modified completion dates by letter.  CONSULTANT agrees to 
diligently perform the services to be provided under this Agreement.  In the performance of 
this Agreement, time is of the essence. 

 
1.3 It is understood and agreed that CONSULTANT has the professional skills necessary to 

perform the work agreed to be performed under this Agreement, that DISTRICT relies upon 

the professional skills of CONSULTANT to do and perform CONSULTANT’s work in a 
skillful and professional manner, and CONSULTANT thus agrees to so perform the work.  

CONSULTANT represents that it has all the necessary licenses to perform the work and 
shall maintain them during the term of this Agreement.  CONSULTANT agrees that the 

work performed under this Agreement shall follow practices usual and customary to the EAP 
profession and that CONSULTANT is the Third Party Administrator in responsible charge 

of the work for all activities performed under this Agreement.  Acceptance by DISTRICT of 

the work performed under this Agreement does not operate as a release of CONSULTANT 
from such professional responsibility for the work performed.   

 

1.4 CONSULTANT agrees to maintain in confidence and not disclose to any person or entity, 

without DISTRICT's prior written consent, any trade secret or confidential information, 

knowledge or data relating to the products, process, or operation of DISTRICT.  
CONSULTANT further agrees to maintain in confidence and not to disclose to any person or 

entity, any data, information, technology, or material developed or obtained by 
CONSULTANT during the term of this Agreement.  The covenants contained in this 

paragraph shall survive the termination of this Agreement for whatever cause. 

 

1.5 The originals of all non-medical/EAP client-confidential information which might include 

computations, drawings, designs, graphics, studies, reports, manuals, photographs, 
videotapes, data, computer files, and other documents prepared or caused to be prepared by 

CONSULTANT or its subconsultants in connection with these services shall be delivered to 
and shall become the exclusive property of DISTRICT.  DISTRICT is licensed to utilize 

these documents for DISTRICT applications on other projects or extensions of this project, 

at its own risk.  CONSULTANT and its subconsultants may retain and use copies of such 

documents, with written approval of DISTRICT. 

 

1.6 CONSULTANT is an independent contractor and not an employee of DISTRICT.  

CONSULTANT expressly warrants that it will not represent that it is an employee or servant 

of DISTRICT.  
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1.7 CONSULTANT is retained to render professional services only and all payments made are 
compensation solely for such services as it may render and recommendations it may make in 

carrying out the work.  

 
1.8 It is further understood and agreed by the parties hereto that CONSULTANT in the 

performance of its obligations hereunder is subject to the control or direction of DISTRICT 
as to the designation of tasks to be performed, the results to be accomplished by the services 

hereunder agreed to be rendered and performed, and not the means, methods, or sequence 
used by the CONSULTANT for accomplishing the results. 

 
1.9 If, in the performance of this agreement, any third persons are employed by CONSULTANT, 

such person shall be entirely and exclusively under the direction, supervision, and control of 

CONSULTANT.  All terms of employment, including hours, wages, working conditions, 
discipline, hiring, and discharging, or any other terms of employment or requirements of law, 

shall be determined by CONSULTANT, and DISTRICT shall have no right or authority over 

such persons or the terms of such employment. 
 
1.10 It is further understood and agreed that as an independent contractor and not an employee of 

DISTRICT, neither the CONSULTANT nor CONSULTANT’s assigned personnel shall 

have any entitlement as a DISTRICT employee, right to act on behalf of DISTRICT in any 

capacity whatsoever as agent, nor to bind DISTRICT to any obligation whatsoever.  
CONSULTANT shall not be covered by DISTRICT’s worker’s compensation insurance; nor 

shall CONSULTANT be entitled to compensated sick leave, vacation leave, retirement 
entitlement, participation in group health, dental, life or other insurance programs, or entitled 

to other fringe benefits payable by DISTRICT to employees of DISTRICT. 

 
 

ARTICLE 2 - COMPENSATION

 
2.1 For the Scope of Services described in Exhibit A, DISTRICT agrees to pay CONSULTANT 

actual costs incurred, subject to a Maximum Cost Ceiling of $(dollars).  Total compensation 

under the Agreement shall not exceed a Maximum Agreement Ceiling of $(dollars).  

Compensation for services shall be in accordance with the method and amounts described in 
Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated herein.  

 
2.2 In case of changes affecting project scope resulting from new findings, unanticipated 

conditions, or other conflicts or discrepancies, CONSULTANT shall promptly notify 

DISTRICT of the identified changes and advise DISTRICT of the recommended solution.  
Work shall not be performed on such changes without prior written authorization of 

DISTRICT. 
 

ARTICLE 3 - NOTICE TO PROCEED

 
3.1 This Agreement shall become effective upon execution of the second signature.  

CONSULTANT shall commence work upon receipt of DISTRICT's Notice to Proceed, 
which shall be in the form of a letter signed by DISTRICT's Project Manager.  DISTRICT's 

Notice to Proceed will authorize the Contracted Services described in Exhibit A with ceiling 

prices described in ARTICLE 2 - COMPENSATION.  No work shall commence until the 

 47



Notice to Proceed is issued. 
 

ARTICLE 4 - TERMINATION 
 
4.1 This Agreement may be terminated by DISTRICT immediately for cause or upon 30 days 

written notice, without cause, during the performance of the work. 

 
4.2 If this Agreement is terminated CONSULTANT shall be entitled to compensation for 

services satisfactorily performed to the effective date of termination; provided however, that 
DISTRICT may condition payment of such compensation upon CONSULTANT's delivery 
to DISTRICT of any and all documents, photographs, computer software, videotapes, and 
other materials provided to CONSULTANT or prepared by CONSULTANT for DISTRICT 

in connection with this Agreement.  Payment by DISTRICT for the services satisfactorily 
performed to the effective date of termination, shall be the sole and exclusive remedy to 
which CONSULTANT is entitled in the event of termination of the Agreement and 

CONSULTANT shall be entitled to no other compensation or damages and expressly waives 
same. 

 
4.3 This Agreement may be terminated by CONSULTANT upon 30 days written notice to 

DISTRICT only in the event of substantial failure by DISTRICT to fulfill its obligations 

under this Agreement through no fault of the CONSULTANT. 
 

ARTICLE 5 - PROJECT MANAGERS

 

5.1 DISTRICT designates Roger Wapner, PhD, CEAP as its Project Manager, who shall be 
responsible for administering and interpreting the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 

for matters relating to CONSULTANT's performance under this Agreement, and for liaison 

and coordination between DISTRICT and CONSULTANT. CONSULTANT may be 
requested to assist in such coordinating activities as necessary as part of the services.  In the 

event DISTRICT wishes to make a change in the DISTRICT's representative, DISTRICT 
will notify CONSULTANT of the change in writing. 

 

5.2 CONSULTANT designates (Consultant Project Manager's name) as its Project Manager, 

who shall have immediate responsibility for the performance of the work and for all matters 
relating to performance under this Agreement.  Any change in CONSULTANT designated 

personnel or subconsultant shall be subject to approval by the DISTRICT Project Manager 

 

ARTICLE 6 -  CONTRACT EQUITY PROGRAM COMPLIANCE

 

6.1 CONSULTANT expressly agrees that this Agreement is subject to DISTRICT’s Contract 
Equity Program (“CEP”).  CONSULTANT is familiar with the DISTRICT’s CEP and Equal 

Opportunity Guidelines, and has read and understood all of the program requirements.  

CONSULTANT understands and agrees to comply with the CEP and all requirements 
therein, including each of the Good Faith Efforts.  CONSULTANT further understands and 

agrees that non-compliance with the CEP requirements may result in termination of this 
Agreement. 
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6.2 Designated CEP compliance for the duration of this Agreement is listed in Exhibit  C, which 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein.  CONSULTANT shall maintain records of the 

total amount actually paid to each subconsultant.   

 

ARTICLE 7 - INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

 

7.1 Indemnification
 

CONSULTANT expressly agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless DISTRICT and 

its Directors, officers, agents and employees from and against any and all loss, liability, 

expense, claims, suits, and damages, including attorneys' fees, arising out of or resulting 
from CONSULTANT's, its associates', employees', subconsultants', or other agents' 

negligent acts, errors or omissions, or willful misconduct, in the operation and/or 

performance under this Agreement. 

 

7.5 Insurance Requirements   

 

CONSULTANT shall take out and maintain during the life of the Agreement all the 
insurance required in this ARTICLE, and shall submit certificates for review and approval 

by DISTRICT.  The Notice to Proceed shall not be issued, and CONSULTANT shall not 
commence work until such insurance has been approved by DISTRICT.  The certificates 

shall be on forms provided by DISTRICT, attached in exhibit D. 

      

Acceptance of the certificates shall not relieve CONSULTANT of any of the insurance 
requirements, nor decrease the liability of CONSULTANT.  DISTRICT reserves the right to 

require CONSULTANT to provide insurance policies for review by DISTRICT. 
 

7.6 Workers Compensation Insurance   

 
CONSULTANT shall take out and maintain during the life of the Agreement, Workers 

Compensation Insurance, for all of its employees on the project.  In lieu of evidence of 

Workers Compensation Insurance, DISTRICT will accept a Self-Insured Certificate from the 

State of California.  CONSULTANT shall require any subconsultant to provide it with 
evidence of Workers Compensation Insurance. 

 
 
7.7 Commercial General Liability Insurance

 

CONSULTANT shall take out and maintain during the life of the Agreement Automobile 
and General Liability Insurance that provides protection from claims which may arise from 

operations or performance under this Agreement.  If CONSULTANT elects to self-insure 

(self-fund) any liability exposure during the contract period above $50,000, CONSULTANT 
is required to notify the DISTRICT immediately.  Any request to self-insure must first be 

approved by the DISTRICT before the changed terms are accepted. CONSULTANT shall 
require any subconsultant to provide evidence of liability insurance coverages. 

 

The amounts of insurance coverages shall not be less than the following: 
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$1,000,000/Occurrence, Bodily Injury, Property Damage – Automobile. 
 

$1,000,000/Occurrence, Bodily Injury, Property Damage - General Liability. 

 

The following coverages or endorsements must be included in the policies:   
 

  1. DISTRICT and its Directors, officers, and employees are additional insureds in the 

policy(ies) as to the work being performed under this Agreement; 
 

  2. The coverage is primary and non-contributory to any other insurance carried by 
DISTRICT; 

 

  3. The policy(ies) cover(s) contractual liability for the assumption of liability through the 
indemnity in this Agreement; 

  4. The policy(ies) is(are) written on an occurrence basis; 
 

  5. The policy(ies) cover(s) broad form property damage liability; 

 
  6. The policy(ies) cover(s) personal injury (libel, slander, and trespass) liability; 

 
  8. The policy(ies) cover(s) products and completed operations. 

 

  9. The policy(ies) cover(s) use of non-owned automobiles and equipment. 
 

11. The policy(ies) shall not be canceled nor materially altered unless 30 days' written 
notice  is given to DISTRICT. 

 

7.8 Professional Liability Insurance

 

CONSULTANT shall take out and maintain during the life of the Agreement, professional 
liability insurance (Errors and Omissions) with a minimum of $1,000,000 of liability 

coverage.  A deductible may be acceptable upon approval of the DISTRICT.  The policy 

shall provide 30 days advance written notice to DISTRICT for cancellation or reduction in 

coverage.  

 

ARTICLE 8 - NOTICES

 
Any notice which DISTRICT may desire or is required at any time to give or serve CONSULTANT 

may be delivered personally, or be sent by United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed to: 
 

(consulting firm's name)  

(address)  
Attention: (contact, usually the consultant's project manager),  

 

or at such other address as shall have been last furnished in writing by CONSULTANT to 

DISTRICT.   

 

Any notice which CONSULTANT may desire or is required at any time to give or serve upon 
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DISTRICT may be delivered personally at EBMUD, 375 - 11th Street, Oakland, CA  94607-4240, 
or be sent by United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed to: 

 

Roger Wapner 

MS 601 

P.O. Box 24055  

Oakland, CA 94623-1055 

 

or at such other address as shall have been last furnished in writing by DISTRICT to 

CONSULTANT.   

 

Such personal delivery or mailing in such manner shall constitute a good, sufficient and lawful 

notice and service thereof in all such cases. 

 

ARTICLE 9 - MISCELLANEOUS

 

9.1 This Agreement represents the entire understanding of DISTRICT and CONSULTANT as to 

those matters contained herein.  No prior oral or written understanding shall be of any force 
or effect with respect to those matters covered hereunder.  This Agreement may only be 

modified by amendment in writing signed by each party. 
 

9.2 This Agreement is to be binding on the successors and assigns of the parties hereto.  The 

services called for herein are deemed unique and CONSULTANT shall not assign, transfer 
or otherwise substitute its interest in this Agreement or any of its obligations hereunder 

without the prior written consent of DISTRICT. 
 

9.3 Should any part of this Agreement be declared by a final decision by a court or tribunal of 

competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional, invalid or beyond the authority of either party 
to enter into or carry out, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this 

Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect, provided that the remainder of this 
Agreement can be interpreted to give effect to the intentions of the parties. 

 

9.4 Multiple copies of this Agreement may be executed by the parties and the parties agree that 

the Agreement on file at the DISTRICT is the version of the Agreement that shall take 

precedence should any differences exist among counterparts of the Agreement.  
 

9.5 This Agreement and all matters relating to it shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
California. 

 

9.6 The District’s waiver of the performance of any covenant, condition, obligation, 
representation, warranty or promise in this agreement shall not invalidate this Agreement or 

be deemed a waiver of any other covenant, condition, obligation, representation, warranty or 
promise.  The District’s waiver of the time for performing any act or condition hereunder 

does not constitute a waiver of the act or condition itself. 

 

9.7 There shall be no discrimination against any person, or group of persons, on account of race, 

color, religion, creed, national origin, ancestry, gender, age, marital status, disability, or 

sexual orientation in the performance of this contract.  CONSULTANT shall not establish or 
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permit any such practice(s) of discrimination with reference to the contract or any part 
thereof.  CONSULTANTS determined to be in violation of this section shall be deemed to be 

in material breach of this Agreement. 

 
9.8 CONSULTANT affirms that it does not have any financial interest or conflict of interest that 

would prevent CONSULTANT from providing unbiased, impartial service to the DISTRICT 
under this Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE 10 - TERMS

 
Unless terminated pursuant to Article 4 herein, this Agreement shall expire when all tasks have been 

completed and final payment has been made by DISTRICT, or in any event, no later than 7/1/2018. 
The terms of this Agreement may be amended only in writing signed by both parties. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto each herewith subscribe the same in duplicate. 
 

EAST BAY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 
 

 

By:           Date   

(Name),  

 HR 
 

 

Approved As To Form 

 

By:        
for the Office of the General Counsel 

 

 

(CONSULTING FIRM'S NAME, ALL CAPS & BOLD)        
 

By:          Date   

(Name),  

(Title) 

 

 
Rev. 4/22/08 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 

East Bay Municipal Utility District 

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

I.  CONSULTANT SERVICES 
 

CONSULTANT shall provide the services as listed below: 

 

A.    1.  Supervisory referrals/consultation  

  2.  Drug and alcohol assessment, referral and follow-up 

  3.  Emotional/psychological, chronic and acute counseling 

  4.  Relationship issues 

  5.  Work-related problems 

  6.  Legal consultation  

  7.  Eldercare/child care 

  8.  Financial counseling 

  9.  Retirement preplanning 

10.  Other work/life components 
 

 B.  (1)  Consultation with, training of, and assistance to work organization leadership 

  (managers, supervisors, and union stewards) seeking to manage the troubled  

  employee, enhance the work environment, and improve employee job performance; 

  and, outreach to and education of employees and their family members about  

  availability of EAP services; 

      (2) Confidential and timely problem identification/assessment services for employee 

 clients with personal concerns that may affect job performance;  

      (3) Use of constructive confrontation, motivation, and short-term intervention with 

 employee clients to address problems that affect job performance;  

      (4) Referral of employee clients for diagnosis, treatment, and assistance, plus case 

 monitoring and follow-up services;   

(5) Consultation to work organization in establishing and maintaining effective relations 
with treatment and other service providers, and in managing provider contracts;   

(6) Consultation to work organization to encourage availability of and employee access 
to health benefits covering medical and behavioral problems, including, but not 

limited to, alcoholism, drug abuse, and mental and emotional disorders; and 

(7) Identification of the effects of EAP services on the work organization and individual 
job performance. 

 

C. Additional services that may be listed from the CONSULTANT’S following attachment: 

“Proposal to Provide Employee Assistance Program Services for East Bay Municipal 

Utility District. Submitted by _________________________ on _____________ 2012,    
 

 

II. PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 

Services will be in place by 7/1/2012. 
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EXHIBIT B 

 

East Bay Municipal Utility District 

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

COMPENSATION 
 

Compensation for services provided in Exhibit A, SCOPE OF SERVICES, shall be in accordance 

with the methods and specific amounts described in this Exhibit. 
 
1. DISTRICT shall pay CONSULTANT only the actual costs incurred, subject to the agreed cost 

ceiling.  CONSULTANT certifies that the cost and pricing information used herein are 
complete, current and accurate.  CONSULTANT acknowledges that it will expend public 

funds and hereby agrees to use every appropriate method to contain its fees and minimize 
costs under this Agreement.        

2. For the Scope of Services described in Exhibit A, DISTRICT agrees to pay CONSULTANT 

actual costs incurred, as indicated in the “EBMUD Pricing Addendum for xxxx Proposal to 

Provide EAP Services for EBMUD" subject to a Maximum Annual Cost Ceiling of $xxxx per 

fiscal year with a fee-for-service rate of $xxx per EAP session, a case rate of $xxx for 
ancillary services, and specialized EAP consultation authorized by the Project Manager.  Total 

annual compensation under the Agreement shall not exceed the Maximum Annual Agreement 
Ceiling of $xxx. Total compensation under the Agreement shall not exceed the Maximum 

Agreement Ceiling of $xxx. CONSULTANT will continue to provide EAP services, as 
specified in Exhibit A, for the completion of the current fiscal year if the maximum, annual 
agreement ceiling has been reached, with the exception of specialized EAP consultation 

authorized by the Project Manager. CONSULTANT certifies that the proposed cost and 
pricing data used herein are complete, current, and accurate. 

 
3. For options to extend this agreement for up to three additional 1-year periods ending no later 

than 6/30/2020, DISTRICT agrees to pay CONSULTANT actual costs incurred, as indicated 

in the “EBMUD Pricing Addendum for  _________________’ Proposal to Provide EAP 

Services for EBMUD" subject to a Maximum Biannual Cost Ceiling of $xxx for the first 

option (years 6-7), to a Maximum Biannual Cost Ceiling of $xxx for the second option (years 

7-8), to a Maximum Biannual Cost Ceiling of $xxx for the third and final option (years 8-9). 
CONSULTANT will continue to provide EAP services, as specified in Exhibit A, for the 

completion of the current option period if the maximum biannual cost ceiling has been 

reached, with the exception of specialized EAP consultation authorized by the Project 
Manager. CONSULTANT certifies that the proposed cost and pricing data used herein are 

complete, current, and accurate. 
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EXHIBIT C 

 

East Bay Municipal Utility District 

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

CEP COMPLIANCE 
 

 
          
FIRMS UTILIZED  MINIMUM  MINIMUM 
    AMOUNT*  PERCENT** 

 

 

(Name of  
Subconsultant's firm)  $(dollars)  (1 to 99) 

 

(Name of  
Subconsultant's firm)  $(dollars)  (1 to 99) 

 

                         

            TOTAL $(dollars)  (1 to 99) 

 
 

* Does not include consultant's markup. (Include this footnote only if your contract includes 

markup on subconsultants.) 
 

** Based on a Maximum Agreement Ceiling amount of $(dollars). 
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EXHIBIT D 

 

East Bay Municipal Utility District 

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE 

 

 

CONSULTANT shall complete and submit to DISTRICT the following certificates of insurance: 

 

Certificate of Liability Insurance (see page 57) 

Certificate of Professional Liability Insurance (see page 58) 

Certificate of Workers’ Compensation Insurance (see page 59) 
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EXHIBIT E 

 

East Bay Municipal Utility District 

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

THE EAPA DEFINITION OF CORE TECHNOLOGY 

 
 
The Employee Assistance Professional Association (EAPA) describes "EAP" as a worksite-based 
program designed to assist: (1) work organizations in addressing productivity issues, and (2) 

"employee clients" in identifying and resolving personal concerns, including, but not limited to, 
health, marital, family, financial, alcohol, drug, legal, emotional, stress, or other personal issues that 

may affect job performance.   
 
"Employee Assistance Program core technology" or "EAP core technology" represents the essential 

components of the employee assistance (EA) profession.  These components combine to create a 
unique approach to addressing work-organization productivity issues and "employee client" personal 

concerns affecting job performance and ability to perform on the job.  
As defined by EAPA, core technology includes:   
 

(1) Consultation with, training of, and assistance to work organization leadership 
(managers, supervisors, and union stewards) seeking to manage the troubled 
employee, enhance the work environment, and improve employee job performance; 
and, outreach to and education of employees and their family members about 
availability of EAP services; 

(2) Confidential and timely problem identification/assessment services for employee 
clients with personal concerns that may affect job performance;  

(3) Use of constructive confrontation, motivation, and short-term intervention with 
employee clients to address problems that affect job performance;  

(4) Referral of employee clients for diagnosis, treatment, and assistance, plus case 
monitoring and follow-up services;   

(5) Consultation to work organization in establishing and maintaining effective relations 

with treatment and other service providers, and in managing provider contracts;   

(6) Consultation to work organization to encourage availability of and employee access to 
health benefits covering medical and behavioral problems, including, but not limited to, 

alcoholism, drug abuse, and mental and emotional disorders; and 
(7) Identification of the effects of EAP services on the work organization and individual job 

performance. 
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EXHIBIT F 

 

East Bay Municipal Utility District 

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 
 

EMPLOYEE COUNT BY ZIP CODE 

 

Zip 

Coun

t 

92627 1 

93635 1 

93637 1 

94005 1 

94010 2 

94015 4 

94030 3 

94044 4 

94066 1 

94070 1 

94080 4 

94087 3 

94105 1 

94107 4 

94108 1 

94109 4 

94110 6 

94112 1 

94114 2 

94115 1 

94116 3 

94118 3 

94121 4 

94122 1 

94124 2 

94127 4 

94131 5 

94132 3 

94134 1 

94188 1 

94303 1 

94401 1 

94404 2 

94501 62 

94502 18 

94503 2 

94505 2 

94506 5 

94507 3 

94509 23 

94510 12 

94513 22 

94514 4 

94517 3 

94518 17 

94519 15 

94520 16 

94521 31 

94523 38 

94525 11 

94526 15 

94530 24 

94531 13 

94533 14 

94534 11 

94536 7 

94538 4 

94539 5 

94541 19 

94542 5 

94544 24 

94545 9 

94546 52 

94547 25 

94548 1 

94549 23 

94550 12 

94551 8 

94552 24 

94553 52 

94555 5 

94556 13 

94558 8 

94560 6 

94561 26 

94563 11 

94564 19 

94565 45 

94566 17 

94568 33 

94571 2 

94572 12 

94577 43 

94578 21 

94579 19 

94580 19 

94582 13 

94583 23 

94585 7 

94587 22 

94588 10 

94589 2 

94590 7 

94591 16 

94595 14 

94596 13 

94597 16 

94598 23 

94601 8 

94602 20 

94603 5 

94605 34 

94606 6 

94607 8 

94608 20 

94609 9 

94610 21 

94611 33 

94612 7 

94614 1 

94618 8 

94619 24 

94620 1 

94621 5 

94623 1 

94662 1 

94702 12 

94703 6 

94704 2 

94705 9 

94706 12 

94707 4 

94708 5 

94709 5 

94710 3 

94712 1 

94801 6 

94803 46 

94804 22 

94805 8 

94806 22 

94901 1 

94903 1 

94920 2 

94927 1 

94931 1 

94937 1 

94941 5 

94945 2 

94947 1 

94952 1 

94954 2 

94960 1 

95006 1 

95033 1 

95035 1 

95123 1 

95127 1 

95130 1 

95132 1 

95148 1 

95158 1 

95203 1 

95204 2 

95206 7 

95207 1 

95209 3 

95210 1 

95212 4 

95215 2 

95219 1 

95220 1 

95221 1 

95225 1 

95232 1 

95233 1 

95236 2 

95237 1 

95240 2 

95241 1 

95242 4 

95245 3 

95246 4 

95247 1 

95249 4 

95252 17 

95254 1 

95255 2 

95330 5 

95336 1 

95337 4 

95350 1 

95355 1 

95361 2 

95366 1 

95376 8 

95377 6 

95391 1 

95403 3 

95467 1 

95476 1 

95608 1 

95620 1 

95624 1 

95626 1 

95629 1 

95630 3 

95632 5 

95638 1 

95640 1 

95642 3 

95665 5 

95666 1 

95667 2 

95670 1 

95685 3 

95687 10 

95688 10 

95689 3 

95694 1 

95695 1 

95746 1 

95757 1 

95762 1 

95765 1 

95816 2 

95818 2 

95823 1 

95829 1 

95835 2 

95842 1 

95843 1 

95864 1 
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Total 1750 

 

  


